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Valeriu Lucian Bologa – the Founder of Book’ Collection

in History of Medicine Department in Cluj
C. Barsu

History of Medicine Department

“Iuliu Hatieganu” University of Medicine and Pharmacy

Cluj, Romania

     Valeriu Lucian Bologa was the first and the most important Romanian Professor of History of Medicine. 
     He was born in 1892, in Brasov. His father – Valeriu-Petru Bologa – the chief of Brasov branch of the well-known “Albina” bank, took the degree as engineer in Vienna, where he learned the notions of trade and finances. Unfortunately, he died when Valeriu Lucian had only seven years. Then his uncle – Sextil Puscariu – took care of his education. 
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     About Sextil Puscariu (1877 – 1948) it is useful to mention that he became the first rector of the Romanian University in Cluj (1919/1920). 
     V. L. Bologa attended the primary and secondary school in Paris, Leipzig, Brasov and Vienna. In 1911 he became student at the Faculty of Science in Leipzig. The next year he moved to Jena, where he continued to study biology. At the same time he became student at the Faculty of Medicine in Jena. In 1914 he graduated in Science. He participated at First World War as military-physician on the Italian front and – later on – in the Romanian Army. In that time he continued medicine in Jena and Innsbruck. 
     After the end of the war, he came back in Romania (1919) and continued to study medicine at the Romanian Faculty of Medicine in Cluj.
     Professor Iuliu Hatieganu – the dean of the Faculty – had the initiative of creating the Institute (Chair) of History of Medicine in 1919/1920, the first one in Romania. Because there was no young Romanian specialist in this field, the Professorial Council invited the French professor of parasitology and history of medicine Jules Guiart (1870 – 1965) to direct this Institute. As Guiart could not end his activities at the Faculty of Medicine and Pharmacy of Lyon, he came to Cluj only in 1921. He started the book’ collection of the Institute by giving French books published in the XIX century.

     It is important to mention that the idea of inviting Guiart as professor of history of medicine in Cluj belonged to Professor Emil Racovita – the famous biologist and explorer. At that time he was the director of the Museum of Speology of the Faculty of Sciences in Cluj – the first museum of this type in the world. 
     Racovita recommended to Bologa to join the Institute. So, Valeriu L. Bologa was appointed in 1921 assistant professor at the Institute of History of Medicine. 

     In 1923 Bologa became Ph. D. and began to collect medical and pharmaceutical publications with historical value. Until 1928 the collection included many old and rare medical books published in Romania. The most important help was given by the Minister of Health – Professor Ioan Lupas (1880 - 1967). The majority of books belonged to the ophthalmologist and historian of medicine Gheorghe Crainiceanu.
     J. Guiart and V. L. Bologa created a special series of medico-historical studies entitled “The Medico-Historical Library” in 1926. Until 1945, when this project was stopped, there were published 14 volumes. The subject were: the beginning of scientific medicine in Romania, the history of medicine in Transylvania, rural hygiene in the past of Romania, the French medical mission in Romania between 1916 - 1918, the help of the Romanian people from Transylvania for the wounded people during 1877 –1878, St. Cosmas and St. Damian, the medicine during the Pharaohs etc.
     Jules Guiart finished his academic activity in Romania in 1930. The University of Cluj offered him the title of honorific professor. The Romanian Academy elected him correspondent member and the Romanian Academy of Medicine elected him honorary member. 
     In 1930 Bologa became the Director of History of Medicine Institute. In that year the index of books had  8000 titles. 
     In 1932 he organized the exhibition “History of the Romanian Medicine” at the Library of the University in Cluj, where he presented old books, reviews, engraves and photos. In 1937 he became professor. 
     During the Second World War – between 1940 and 1945 – the Department and the book collection were moved in Sibiu, where the Faculty was in refuge. In this period Rudolf Spek – the Director of the Brukenthal Library in Sibiu helped Professor Bologa to obtain old medical books.

     The Faculty returned in Cluj in 1945. After 1948 different hospitals of Transylvania and also many departments and clinics of the Faculty transferred their old medical and pharmaceutical books to the Chair of History of Medicine. The collection was developed by the acquisition of rare books from the second-hand bookshops and also by donations. 
     Bologa  organized the collection in six categories:

- old medical reviews, old reviews of history of medicine and related sciences such as history of pharmacy, of biology, of chemistry and biochemistry, of physics and so on
- old medical books (1525 - 1830)

- “ Transilvanica” – works in Romanian, German and Hungarian languages edited in Transylvania

- old Romanian medical books (1793 - 1869)  
- books of the most important Greeks and Roman physicians of the Antiquity
- new medical books.
     The complex work of organization was realized by Professor Bologa, his assistant Samuel Iszak and two librarians Maria Maior and Hortensia Sască.

     It is interesting to give some examples of old books from the Collection of the History of Medicine Institute:

· Petrus Hispanus (1226 - 1277) – Thesaurus pauperum (1525) 

· Leonhard Fuchs (1501 - 1566) – De medendis singularum humani corporis partium a summon capite ad imos usque pedes passionibus ac febribus Liber Quatour (1539, Basileae) 
· Henricus Cornelius Agrippa (1486 - 1553) – De incertitudine et vanitate scientiarum (1544, Antwerpen)
· Johannes Antonides van der Linden (1609 - 1664) – Magni Hippocratis coi Opera Omnia (1665, Leyda)
· Fabritius Hildanus (1560 - 1634) – Wundarzney (1652, Frankfurt am Main), “editio princeps”

· Robert Boyle (1627 - 1691) – Tentamina quaedam Phisiologica, diversis temporibus et occasionibus conscripta cum aejusdem Historia fluiditatis et firmitatis (1667, Amsterdam)
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I. Schultes (1595 - 1645) – Armamentarium Chirurgicum (1693, Lugdunum)
· Daniel Leclerc (1652 - 1728) & Jean Jaques Manget (1652 - 1742) – Bibliotheca Anatomica sive recens in anatomia inventorum Thesaurus Locupletissimus (1685, Geneva)
· Papai Pariz Ferencz (1649 - 1716) – Pax Corporis (1690, Cluj), “editio princeps”

· Stefan Vasile Episcopesco (1777 - 1850) – Practica doctorului de casa (1846, Bucuresti) 

· The review « ПОВЪЦУІТОРІУЛ  СЪНЪТЪЦЕІ ШІ А ЕКОНОМІЕІ» (1844, Jassy) - the first Romanian  medical review
·  Adam Chenot (1721 - 1789) – Tractatus de Peste (1766, Vindobone)
· Prudent Hevin (1715 - 1789) – Cours de Pathologie et de Thérapeutique chirurgicales (1785, Paris)

· Ioanne Molnar de Mullersheim (Ioan Piuariu-Molnar, 1749 - 1815) – Paraenesis ad Auditores Chyrurgiae  in Lyceo Regio Academico Claudiopolitano (1793, Claudiopoli) (Cluj)

· *** - Pharmacopea Romana (1862, Bucuresti), the first edition of the Romanian Pharmacopea
· Pavel Vasici – Ungureanu (1806 - 1881) – Dietetica – ДІЄТЄТІΚA (1831, ЪЧДА) (Buda)
     Bologa retired in 1962, but he continued his scientific activity as consultant professor. 
     In 1962  the collection of books contained 50000 volumes.


     Bologa was the editor of the first Romanian textbook of History of Medicine. This book was published in 1963.

     His most important achievement was to direct the treatise “History of Universal Medicine”, edited in 1970. 

     He was member of 23 academic and scientific national and international societies, such as Société Internationale d’Histoire de la Médicine (Paris, 1926), Société Internationale d’Histoire de la Pharmacie (Paris, 1930), International Academy for the History of Science (Hague, 1958), Société d’Histoire de la Médicine (Montpellier, 1970) etc. Between 1964 and 1970 he was vice president of the International Society of History of Medicine. He was honorary member of the Royal Society of Medicine in England (London, 1963).   
     In 1970, in spite of his old age and his heart illness, he brilliantly chaired the XXII International Congress of History of Medicine, which took place in Bucharest and Constanta.

     He died in 30 October 1971. On 14 December 1971 the French Academy of Medicine awarded to V.L. Bologa the Martignoni Prize.
     The next year – in 1972 – was published the complete treatise “History of Romanian Medicine”, a première in the Romanian scientific literature.  
     Unfortunately, in 1979 a fire destroyed a part of the old books of the Collection.

After 1990 there  were made some efforts to restore the deteriorated books and to complete the Collection with new important books edited in European Union, in USA and Canada[image: image3.jpg]




